No. 689762 

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 

HU YAN, individually and as Personal 
Representative ofthe Estate ofGUIZHEN YAO, 

Deceased, 
Plaintiff/ Appellant 

vs. 

PLEASANT DAY ADULT FAMILY HOME, INC. 
P.S., a Domestic Corporation, YU CHEN YIN and 

Unknown JOHN DOES, 
Defendants/Respondents 

PETITION FOR REVIEW FROM DIVISION I OF THE COURT OF 
APPEALS 

JAMES C. BUCKLEY, WSBA #8263 
ERICA B. BUCKLEY, WSBA#40999 

RONALD L. UNGER, WSBA #16875 
BUCKLEY & ASSOCIATES 

Attorneys for Plaintiff/ Appellant 
675 South Lane Street, Suite 300 

Seattle, W A 981 04 
Telephone (206) 622-1100 
Facsimile (206) 622-0688 

.....

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

The petitioner is Hu Y an, individually and as the personal 

representative of the Estate of Guizhen Yao (hereinafter, "Yan"). Yan 

was the plaintiff in the trial court and the appellant in Division I of the 

Court of Appeals. 

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Yan seeks review of the unpublished Division I Court of Appeals 

decision, Yan v. Pleasant Day Adult Family Home Inc., 2013 WL 6633440 

(Wn. App. Div. l).which was filed on December 16, 2013. A copy ofthat 

decision is attached to the Appendix of this petition. Y an did not make a 

motion for reconsideration. 

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

A. Issue on Yan's breach of contract theory. 

Yan contracted with the defendant to protect his wife, Y ao, and 

keep her safe from harm. Yan claimed the defendant's breach of that 

contract caused his wife's death, resulting in emotional harm. But the 

court dismissed that claim, holding emotional damages are not recoverable 

for breach of contract. As such, the first issue is whether Y an was entitled 

to recover emotional damages when the defendant breached a contract that 

caused bodily injury and was entered to such injury and emotional harm. 
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B. Issue on Yan's negligence theory. 

The trial correct wrongly allowed evidence that a non-party entity, 

DSHS, was at fault. Further, it erroneously instructed the jury to find for 

the defendant if it determined Yan's injuries and damages were solely 

caused by DSHS. Consequently, the second issue is whether the 

following errors were "harmless": 

1. allowing the jury to consider evidence that Yan's injuries 

and damages were caused by negligent conduct ofDSHS; and 

2. instructing the jury they should award a defense verdict if 

they found Yan's injuries and damages were caused solely by the 

acts ofDSHS. 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Facts pertinent to breach of contract issue 

Mr. Yan's wife, Ms. Yao, was diagnosed with Parkinson's disease 

in 2004. RP Vol. II, p. 189:11. Yao's symptoms progressed and in 2006, 

she was also diagnosed with dementia. RP Vol. II, p. 190:10- p. 191:4. 

By 2008, Mr. Yan realized he could no longer care for Yao so he 

contracted with the defendant, the Pleasant Day adult family home 

operated by Ms. Yin. RP Vol. II, p. 209:25- p. 210:3. Yin is certified by 
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the state of Washington to provide care to "vulnerable adults" 1 like Y ao. 

RP Vol. VII-A, p. 53:22-25; Vol. VII, p. 740:21- p. 741:4. 

Before she was admitted to Pleasant Day, Yao had problems 

walking and would fall down. RP Vol. II, p. 529:16-25. Yao's mobility 

problems were set out in a DSHS assessment that was provided to Yin. RP 

Vol. VI-C, p. 36:4-22. The assessment (Exhibit 94) stated Yao needed 

"one-person physical assistance" with locomotion. RP III p. 277:9-11. 

Yin agreed to provide that level of care for Yao. RP Vol. VI-C, p. 24:1- p. 

26:5. DSHS paid Yin approximately $3,000.00 per month to provide Yao 

the care and services listed in this assessment. RP Vol. III, p. 279:10-23. 

On July 7, 2008, Yao moved into Pleasant Day. RP Vol. VI-C, p. 

31:19-24. After one day of providing care to Yao, Yin wrote in Yao's 

chart notes that she could not keep Yao safe. RP Vol. VII-A, p. 4:7- p. 5:9; 

p. 27:12-16; see also RP Vol. VI-C, p. 70:7-16. Yin could have 

discharged Y ao by calling 911 and sending Y ao to an emergency room at 

a hospital. RP Vol. III, p. 284:16- p. 285:2. Yin's other option was to give 

the family a 30-day move out notice. RP Vol. VII-A, p. 68:5- p. 71:19. 

Instead, Yao's family agreed to pay Yin $500 per month for Yin to hire an 

extra caregiver for Yao. RP Vol. VI-B, p. 16:13-18. 

1 See RCW 74.34.020 et. seq. 
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Yao's family paid Yin the additional $500 for the months of July 

and August 2008. RP Vol. VI-B, p. 6:22- p. 7:12; Vol. VI-C, p. 50:3-15. 

But Yin broke her promise because she did not hire an extra caregiver for 

Yao. RP Vol. V, p. 647:5-11; RP Vol. V, p. 621: 21-22. 

Yao fell twice in July, 2008 and 4 times in August, 2008 because 

she was not provided the "one-person physical assistance" with 

locomotion as set out in the DSHS assessment. RP Vol. VI-C, p. 60:10-

20; Vol. VII-A, p. 40:15- p. 42:5; p. 54:11- p. 55; p. 58:1-25; p. 67:21-

62:1, p. 65:7-p. 67:8; RP III p. 277:9-11. Then after those 6 falls, she fell 

again on August 30, 2008 after she exited the front door of Pleasant Day 

and went outside unsupervised. RP Vol. VII p. 839:1- p. 849:18. Yin 

followed Yao outside and saw Yao fall on the roadway. !d. The fall 

caused Yao to fracture her mandible; in addition, she sustained head 

injuries. RP Vol. VII-A, p. 65:7- p. 67:18. On September 14, 2008, Yao 

died as a result ofher injuries. RP Vol. III, p. 365:12-p. 366:8. 25. 

Yan claimed Yao's injuries and death were caused by Yin's breach 

of contract. CP 1321-1336. The trial court dismissed that claim, 

reasoning that emotional damages were not recoverable for breach of 

contract. RP Vol. II, p. 96:22- p. 98: 18. 
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B. Facts pertinent to DSHS as an empty chair issue 

Yan also claimed Yao's injuries and death were caused by Yin's 

negligence and neglect of a vulnerable adult. CP 1321-1336. With 

respect to the negligence claim, Yin asserted non-parties, including DSHS, 

were at fault. RP Vol. II, p.l 04:18. The plaintiff moved to strike the 

empty chair defense because DSHS had no duty, pursuant to Donohoe v. 

State ofWashington, 135 Wn. App. 824, 142 P.3d 654 (2006). RP Vol. I, 

p. 5:6- p. 8:25. But the court denied the plaintiffs motion to strike that 

defense. RP Vol. II, p.94:8- p. 96:16. Consequently, the defendant called 

Elizabeth Johnston, a registered nurse and an administrator of an assisted 

living facility, to give expert testimony. RP Vol. VIII, p. 898:8-18. Ms. 

Johnston testified the DSHS worker failed to convey important 

information to the defendant, including the fact Ms. Y ao had already been 

rejected by a skilled nursing facility and that her doctor had many 

concerns about being placed at an adult family home. RP Vol. VIII, p. 

922:1-18. Further, Ms. Johnston testified that the DSHS caseworker did 

not adequately address concerns raised by the defendant; instead, DSHS 

simply claimed they lost their file. RP Vol. VIII, p. 923:18- p. 924: 12. 

At the close of the evidence, the plaintiff made another motion to 

dismiss DSHS as an empty chair, again citing Donohoe. RP Vol. IX, p. 

1009:2- p. 1011:1. But the trial court denied the motion, holding it was an 
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issue of fact whether DSHS conveyed all the appropriate information to 

Yin and should have found a more appropriate facility to place Ms. Yao. 

RP Vol. IX, p. 1,019: 14- p. 1020:5. Therefore, over the objection of the 

plaintiff,2 the court instructed the jury as follows: 

The defendants claim that DSHS was negligent in one or 
more of the following respects: Failing to provide ARNP 
Lee's "To Whom It May Concern" letter to Pleasant Day 
Adult Family Home before Ms. Yao was placed in the 
home; failing to assist Maria Yin and/or providing a revised 
assessment for Ms. Y ao when Ms. Yin contacted DSHS 
and advised that Ms. Y ao needed to be removed from 
Pleasant Day Adult Family Home 

RP Vol. X, p. 1,172: 19- p. 1,173:1. 

The jury was told to consider all of the evidence relating to the 

defendant's claim that DSHS was at fault. RP Vol. X, p. 1166: 4-8. 

Further, it was told: 

[I]f you find the sole proximate cause of injury or damage 
to the plaintiff was the act of some other person who was 
not a party to this lawsuit, then your verdict should be for 
the defendants. 

RP Vol. X, p. 1,175: 7-11. 

Before a percentage of negligence may be attributed to ... 
any entity that is not a party to this action, the defendant 
has the burden of proving each of the following 
propositions: First, that the entity was negligent; and 

2 RP Vol. X, p. 1,138:20-21; p. 1,152: 19-24. 
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second that the entity's negligence was a proximate cause 
of the damage to the plaintiff. 

RPVol.X,p.1176:6-12. 

The jury was also supplied with a "Special Verdict Form" form 

that asked them whether DSHS was negligent, whether such negligence 

was a proximate cause of damage to the plaintiff and if so, to assign a 

percentage of fault to DSHS. CP 2234. The jury was also instructed not 

to answer any questions regarding negligent conduct of DSHS if they first 

concluded there was no negligent conduct of the defendant. CP 2232: 19. 

In other words, if the jury found the sole proximate cause of the plaintiffs 

damages were caused by the negligent conduct of DSHS, then it was to 

also find that there was no negligent conduct of the defendant. 

C. Court of Appeals decision 

The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's dismissal of the 

breach of contract claim. In doing so, it reasoned that emotional damages 

are not recoverable for breach of contract "where the same damages are 

cognizable in tort." Seep. 19 of the Court of Appeals opinion, attached to 

the Appendix. As outlined below, the Court of Appeals' dismissal of the 

breach of contract claim is inconsistent with this court's decision in 

Gaglidari v. Denny's Restaurants, 124 Wn. 2d 426, 440, 815 P. 2d 1362 

(1991). 
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With respect to the negligence theory, the Court of Appeals agreed 

with Yan that pursuant to Donohoe, DSHS "was not a proper empty chair 

defendant." Seep. 10 of Court of Appeals decision attached to Appendix; 

see also RP Vol. I, p. 5:6- p. 8:25. But the Court of Appeals held the 

error was harmless because the jury did not find the defendant was 

negligent. See pp. 10-11 of the Court of Appeals decision. In its decision, 

the Court of Appeals did not consider the fact that the jury was instructed 

to award a defense verdict if it found that the sole proximate cause of the 

plaintiffs damages were due to the acts ofDSHS. RP Vol. X, p. 1,175: 7-

11 and RP Vol. X, p. 1,172: 19- p. 1,173: 1. As outlined below, the Court 

of Appeals' conclusion the error was harmless is inconsistent with 

Zukowsky v. Brown, 79 Wash.2d 586, 591, 488 P.2d 269 (1971), which 

holds that prejudicial error occurs if the jury is given an instruction, 

unsupported by the evidence, that some other entity other than the 

defendant was at fault. See also Albin v. National Bank of Commerce, 60 

Wash.2d 745, 754, 375 P.2d 487 (1962). 
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V. ARGUMENT 

A. Review is appropriate because the Court of Appeals 
failed to apply this court' standards under Zukowsky 
and Albin. 

The Court of Appeals was correct when it held that the trial court 

erred when it allowed DSHS to remain as an empty chair defendant. P. 10 

of the slip opinion. But the Court of Appeals mistakenly concluded the 

error was harmless. Jd. In making its decision, Division I reasoned it 

could not be presumptively determined that the error affected the verdict 

because the jury found the defendant was not negligent. Id. But in doing 

so, the Court of Appeals failed to apply this court's rule, which requires a 

finding of reversible error when no substantial evidence exists to support a 

jury instruction some entity other than the defendant was at fault. 

Zukowsky v. Brown, 79 Wash.2d 586, 591, 488 P .2d 269 (1971 ); see also 

Albin v. National Bank of Commerce, 60 Wash.2d 745, 754, 375 P.2d 487 

(1962). 

Although the jury found the defendant was not negligent, its 

verdict was based on an erroneous instruction requiring them to render a 

defense verdict if it determined the "sole proximate cause" of the 

plaintiffs damages was due to the negligent conduct of DSHS. RP Vol. 

X, p. 1175:7-11 andRP Vol. X, p. 1172: 19- p. 1173:1. That improper 
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instruction requires reversal because as recently recognized by Division III 

of the Court of Appeals: 

Washington cases consistently hold that it is prejudicial 
error to submit an issue to the jury when there is no 
substantial evidence concerning it. Albin v. Nat'! Bank of 
Commerce of Seattle, 60 Wash.2d 745, 754, 375 P.2d 487 
(1962). 

Columbia Park Golf Course, Inc. v. City of Kennewick, 160 Wash. 
App. 66, 90, 248 P.3d 1067 (2011). 

Reversal is required when the court instructs the jury on a 

theory unsupported by substantial evidence because the mere act of 

submitting the instruction suggests otherwise to the jury, 

encouraging them to speculate. As stated in Albin v. National 

Bank of Commerce, 60 Wash.2d 745, 754, 375 P.2d 487 (1962): 

[T]he giving of the instruction indicates to the jury that the 
court must have thought there was some evidence on the 
issue; and we have consistently followed the rule that it is 
prejudicial error to submit an issue to the jury when there 
is no substantial evidence concerning it. Reynolds v. Phare 
(1961), 58 Wash.2d 904, 905, 365 P.2d 328; White v. 
Peters (1958), 52 Wash.2d 824, 827, 329 P.2d 471. 

Albin v. National Bank of Commerce, 60 Wash.2d 745, 754, 375 P.2d 487 
(1962); emphasis supplied. 

The case Zukowsky v. Brown, 79 Wash.2d 586, 591, 488 P.2d 269 

(1971) is dispositive. In Zukowsky, this court held it was prejudicial error 

to give a contributory negligence instruction when the evidence did not 
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raise a contributory negligence issue. In Zukowsky, like our case, the 

defense argued any error that some other entity besides the defendant was 

harmless because the jury also found the defendant was not negligent. But 

like our case, it could not be determined from examining the verdict 

whether it was influenced by the erroneous jury instruction that some 

other entity was at fault. Compare Zukowsky v. Brown, 79 Wash.2d at p. 

591 with CP 2232-2235. Consequently, reversal was required. !d. In 

doing so, this court stated: 

Defendant, having injected the contributory and 
comparative negligence elements into the instructions, now 
contends that any error in these instructions was rendered 
moot by the defense verdict. This contention is based upon 
Nehrbass v. Bullan, 169 Wash. 377, 379, 13 P.2d 482 
(1932), where we said: 

If the charge of negligence is refuted by the 
jury's verdict, then the question of 
contributory negligence becomes 
immaterial, and the instructions thereon 
inconsequential. 

In that case, the jury was instructed against considering 
contributory negligence as to one of three plaintiffs. The 
jury returned a defense verdict as to all plaintiffs. Under 
the particular facts, we were able to positively state that the 
jury had not proceeded beyond the question of defendant's 
negligence to consider any question of contributory 
negligence by the other two plaintiffs. The facts presented 
an exceptional situation. 
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In the case at bar, the exceptional circumstances of 
Nehrobass, supra, are not present. We cannot positively 
state, from the existence of a general verdict for the 
defendants in this case, that the jury must have 
determined that defendant was free from negligence 
and that its verdict was reached sans any influence of 
the erroneous instructions. The instructions spoke in 
comparative terms, thus encouraging the jury to consider 
alleged contributory negligence in conjunction with its 
consideration of plaintiffs alleged negligence, rather than 
distinct from and subsequent to that determination. 
Further, we cannot say with certitude that the jury did 
not base its conclusion on a finding that, although 
defendant was negligent, the conjectured negligence of 
plaintiff was an independent intervening cause which 
released defendant from liability. Under these 
circumstances, the rule that it is prejudicial error to 
instruct a jury on an issue not raised in the evidence 
applies. Jablinsky v. Continental Pac. Lines, Inc., 58 
Wash.2d 702, 364 P .2d 793 ( 1961 ), and cases cited therein; 
Tergeson v. Robinson Mfg. Co., 48 Wash. 294, 93 P. 428 
(1908); See generally Wiehl, Instructing a Jury in 
Washington, 36 Wash.L.Rev. 378 (1961). The 
instructions on contributory and comparative 
negligence constitute reversible error. 

Zukowsky, 79 Wn. 2d at p. 590-591 (1971); emphasis supplied 

Zukowsky involved an appeal from a published Division II case, 

which also held that it was reversible error to allow the jury to improperly 

consider fault of some entity other than the defendant even though the jury 

issued a defense verdict. As stated by Division II: 

Defendant contends that even though it was error to have 
instructed the jury on these issues, the jury's general verdict 
in favor of the defendant rendered such matter moot. His 
reasoning is that under the instructions, the jury either (1) 
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found no negligence on the part of defendants or (2) found 
that plaintiffs comparative negligence was 100 per cent. 
Under either possibility, the jury necessarily determined 
that the defendant's chargeable share of the negligence 
added up to zero. Plaintifrs counsel has referred to such 
argument as a logical non sequitur. We agree. Each 
party to an action is entitled to have instructions presented 
to the jury which properly reflect the law which applies to 
the proven facts-and instructions which do not meet that 
test should not be given. 

Zukowsky v. Brown, 1 Wash.App. 94, 459 P.2d 964 (1969); emphasis 
supplied. 

In our case, the evidence suggests the jury was influenced to find 

the defendant was not at fault because other entities were at fault. For 

example, one of the jurors submitted the following question to an expert 

witness, Katherine Ander: 

Did you make your finding of no neglect based on the fact 
that the health care providers and family did not take action 
to report the lack of needed care to keep Ms. Y ao safe, or 
seek to mover her? 

RP Vol. V, p. 660:9-14 and RP Vol. V, p. 661: 11-14. 

That inquiry makes it clear the jury thought-pattern was to find no 

negligent conduct on the defendant if another entity was at fault. Ms. 

Ander, in responding, stated that the defendant attempted to contact DSHS 

and "each of those parties had a part here." RP Vol. V, p. 661:5-19. 

Later in the trial, further evidence was presented that DSHS was at fault 
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for not conveying important information to the defendant. RP Vol. VIII, p. 

923:18- p. 924: 12. The jury, in a 10-2 decision3 found the defendant was 

not negligent but it is highly likely they would have found otherwise had 

the trial court not instructed them to find that way if it determined the 

plaintiffs damages were caused by DSHS. Not only was the verdict a 

split decision, but Yin admitted fault and had no defense otherwise. RP 

Vol. VIII, p. 878:11-13. 

But even though it is likely the verdict would have been otherwise 

had the trial court not permitted the defendant to blame DSHS, the Court 

of Appeals was wrong when it reasoned it was incumbent on the plaintiff 

to prove that fact. Rather, under Zukowsky and Albin, reversal is required 

if it cannot be determined from the verdict whether the jury considered the 

improper evidence of the fault of the non-party entity. The erroneous 

instructions on that subject matter essentially told the jury there was 

evidence to that effect, encouraging them to speculate. 

B. Review is also appropriate because the Court of 
Appeals decision conflicts with this court's decision in 
Gaglidari. 

This court has made it clear that emotional damages are available 

when the breach causes "bodily harm or the contract or breach is such a 

3 CP 2232-2234. 
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kind that serious emotional disturbance was a particularly likely result." 

Gaglidari v. Denny's, 117 Wn. 2d 426, 443, 815 P.2d 1362 (1991), 

quoting Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 353 (1981 ). The Gaglidari 

court distinguished its facts, recognizing the firing of a bartender did not 

involve a contract primarily designed "to secure the protection of personal 

interests." Gaglidari, 117 Wn. 2d at p. 441. But in doing so, the court 

approved of a Michigan case, stating: 

[The Michigan Court] limits emotional damages to 
contracts which are not primarily commercial or 
pecuniary, but instead involve personal rights of 
dignity and are incapable of adequate 
compensation by reference to the terms of the 
contract . ... 

... [B]ecause an employment contract is not entered 
into primarily to secure the protection of 
personal interests and pecuniary damages can be 
estimated with reasonable certainty, ... a person 
discharged in breach of an employment contract 
may not recover mental distress damages. 

Gaglidari, 117 Wn. 2d at p. 440-441, quoting Valentine v. General Am. 
Credit, Inc., 420 Mich. 256, 362 N.W. 2d 628 (1984); emphasis supplied. 

The Gaglidari court also cited Restatement (Second) of Contracts 

§ 353 (1981) with approval, stating: 

Recovery for emotional disturbance will be 
excluded unless the breach also caused bodily harm 
or the contract or the breach is of such a kind that 
serious emotional disturbance was a particularly 
likely result.

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