I. IDENTIFICATION OF RESPONDENT 

Respondents Pleasant Day Adult Family Home, Inc., PS and Yu 

Chen Yin, the defendants in the underlying case, Respondents on Appeal 

and Respondents herein, hereinafter "Respondents," oppose the Petition 

for Review.

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

Petitioner's breach of contract claim noting the general rule that emotional 

distress damages were not recoverable for breach of contract; that the 

damages articulated by Petitioner's counsel for the breach were "almost 

precisely duplicative of the tort claims;" a belated amendment to add the 

claims resulted in a lack of discovery, that there was a failure to plead 

wanton or reckless conduct permitting recovery of emotional distress 

damages under a contract; and that the legislature had articulated a 

specific tort-based scheme to recover for wrongful death. Vol. II, RP 

96:23-99:18; CP 1842-43. The trial court denied Respondents' motion to 

dismiss the neglect claim and the issues of negligence/wrongful death and 

neglect went to the jury. CP 1842-43. 

At trial the parties presented opposing expert witness testimony on 

issues of the standard of care, neglect and potential fault of others who 

were not named as parties. Defendants presented expert testimony on 

those issues from Elizabeth Johnston. Vol. VIII, RP 904-905:9; 921:13-

933:21; 934:19-22 and 973:21-976:25. Johnston opined upon the 

obligations of Ms. Yao's healthcare provider, ARNP Lee; Ms. Yao's 

healthcare agents (Ms. Gwo and Mr. Yan) and DSHS caseworker Ms. Ho 
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asserting each of them should have provided, or made sure one of them 

provided, a copy of ARNP Lee's letter to Respondent before Ms. Yao 

moved in to Pleasant Day Adult Family Home; the role of ARNP Lee and 

her duties, responsibilities and shortcomings in this case as a registered 

nurse and the duties, responsibilities and shortcomings of Ms. Yao's 

healthcare agents (Ms. Gwo and Mr. Y an). I d. 

As respects testimony of fault however, Ms. Johnston testified only 

as respects Ms. Yao's healthcare agents and ARNP Lee (Vol. VIII, RP 

927 and 974). 

Jury instructions were submitted and argued by the parties. At the 

time the trial court took exceptions, plaintiffs did not take exception to the 

jury instructions pivotal to this petition No.9. (CP 2201-2202 and Vol. X, 

RP 1136); the first 5 paragraphs of No. 10 (CP 2203 and Vol. X, RP 

1137); No. 15 (CP 2208 and Vol. X, RP 1138) and the form of the Special 

Verdict Form that specifically did NOT include consideration of any other 

entities' fault in addressing the potential negligence of the defendant. (CP 

2232-2235 and Vol. X, RP 1150-51.) 

The jury commenced deliberations at approximately 3:55 p.m. on 

Apri123, 2012 (Vol. X, RP 1260). Over a full day later, on the morning of 

April 25, the jury returned a verdict for the defense as to both the claim of 

negligence and neglect. (Vol. XI, RP 1276). 
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B. The Court of Appeals Analysis. 

On December 16, 2013, the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial 

court's dismissal of Petitioner's breach of contract claims and determined 

there was harmless error by the trial court in allowing DSHS to be 

included in the list of empty chair entities. 

On appeal, in its reply to Respondents' argument that the inclusion 

of DSHS was harmless error, if an error at all, Petitioner did not argue for 

the application of either Zukowsky v. Brown, 79 Wn.2d 586 (1971) or 

Albin v. Nat 'I Bank of Commerce, 60 Wn.2d 745 (1962) nor address the 

Respondents' "harmless error" argument at all. 

Despite no argument or authority cited by Petitioner, the Court of 

Appeals did analyze whether DSHS being included in Respondents' 

empty chair defenses was prejudicial to Petitioner. The Court of Appeals 

properly analyzed the context of DSHS's inclusion as one of three empty 

chair entities on the negligence claim and also thoroughly analyzed the 

jury instructions given (and not excepted to in pertinent part by Petitioner) 

in reaching its decision that the inclusion of DSHS as one of three empty 

chair entities on the negligence claim was harmless error. 1 

1 As further support that the verdict moots this issue, no empty chairs were answerable to 
Petitioner's claim of"neglect" and the jury returned a verdict in favor of Respondent on 
that issue as well. 
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The Court of Appeals also analyzed Petitioner's argument 

regarding the trial court's dismissal of Petitioner's Breach of Contract 

claim, which nearly mirrors Petitioner's submission to this court. There, 

the Court of Appeals again properly relied upon and applied this court's 

decision in Gaglidari v. Denny's Restaurant, 117 Wn.2d 426,440 (1991) 

and noted Petitioner could not articulate any damages arising from the 

purported breach of contract other than general emotional distress 

damages associated with his wrongful death tort claim nor could Petitioner 

point to any Washington case authority that applied the exception 

recognized in Gaglidari. Declining to break new ground and allow 

recovery of emotional distress damages for breach of contract where the 

same damages were cognizable in tort, the Court of Appeals affirmed 

dismissal of the breach of contract claim. 

The Court of Appeals also affirmed the trial court's rulings on (1) 

the inclusion of Ms. Yao's healthcare agents as empty chair entities; (2) 

the admission of expert testimony on neglect; and (3) the admission of 

evidence that Ms. Yao's healthcare providers did not report neglect to the 

State authorities. None of these issues addressed by the Court of Appeals 

are a part of this Petition for Review. 
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V. ARGUMENT 

A. This Court Should Deny Review as Petitioner Has Not Shown a 
Basis for Review under RAP 13.4(b). 

Petitioner has failed to cite to any basis for review as required by 

RAP 13.4(b). From the argument presented it is assumed the Petitioner is 

arguing that the Court of Appeals failed to follow existing Supreme Court 

authority (RAP 13.4(b)(l): conflict with a decision of the Supreme 

Court). Assuming that is the basis of the petition, the analysis employed 

by Petitioner is legally and factually flawed and the Petition should be 

denied. 

B. The Court of Appeals properly applied existing Supreme 
Court precedent and there is no conflict between its decision 
and any decision of this Supreme Court. 

1. Damages for emotional distress are not recoverable in 
contract where the same damages are cognizable in tort. 

The Court of Appeals properly analyzed the law as established by 

this court when addressing breach of contract and tort claims: "The law of 

contracts is designed to enforce expectations created by agreement, while 

the law of torts is designed to protect citizens and the property by 

imposing a duty of reasonable care on others," citing Berscauer/Philips 

Const. Co. v. Seattle Sch.Dist No. 1, 124 Wn.2d 816, 821 (1994 ). In its 

decision the Court of Appeals specifically considered the arguments here 

again put forth by the Petitioner and specifically quoted and followed this 
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Supreme Court's precedent as set forth in Gaglidari v. Denny's 

Restaurant, 117 Wn.2d 426, 440 (1991) in rejecting Petitioner's 

interpretation of that case and Petitioner's misapplication of this court's 

decision in that case to the matter at hand. 

In Gaglidari this Supreme Court discussed a possible exception to 

the above general rule in a situation where the breach "also caused bodily 

harm or the contract or the breach is of such a kind that serious emotional 

disturbance was a particularly likely result." Id. at 443. The trial court and 

the Court of Appeals both properly found the alleged contract here at issue 

did not meet the threshold of this narrow exception. 

Contrary to Petitioner's argument, it is not sufficient to assert that 

just because it is potentially foreseeable that one could suffer emotional 

distress damages as a result of a breach of contract one is entitled to 

pursue recovery for emotional distress damages under both a tort and 

contract theory. This very argument was rejected by this Supreme Court 

in Gaglidari: "by allowing emotional distress damages whenever they are 

a foreseeable result of the breach [of contract], the traditional 

predictability and economic efficiency associated with contract damages 

would be destroyed." Gaglidari v. Denny's, 117 Wn.2d at 446. The Court 

of Appeals correctly followed this Supreme Court's precedent, and in so 

doing specifically noted there is NO Washington Case that has applied the 
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exception discussed, but not implemented, in Gaglidari and also noted, as 

the trial court noted, that when specifically asked what damages arose 

from the alleged breach of contract other than the same general damages 

that were being alleged to have suffered from the wrongful death tort 

claim, the plaintiff could not articulate any damage caused by the alleged 

breach of contract. Vol. II, RP 96:23-99:18. 

Here, the damages sought by Petitioner were fully compensable 

under his wrongful death claim and in response to a challenge to this 

claim, which was added within one month of trial, Petitioner could not 

articulate any "serious emotional disturbance" that was likely to have 

resulted from the alleged breach of contract. Given the lack of facts and 

legal authority to warrant breaking new ground by allowing recovery of 

emotional distress damages for a breach of contract claim, where the same 

exact damages were cognizable in tort, the trial court's dismissal of 

Petitioner's breach of contract claim, and the Court of Appeals' 

affirmance of that ruling, were proper and were in accord with this 

Supreme Court's precedent as set forth in Gaglidari v. Denny's 

Restaurant, 117 Wn.2d 426 , 446-448 ( 1991 ). 

2. The charge of negligence was refuted by the verdict 
rendering the potential fault of the three identified 
potentially at fault entities, of which DSHS was only 
one, immaterial, and the instruction including DSHS as 
a possible empty chair, inconsequential. 
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The Court of Appeals properly found that the trial court's refusal 

to strike DSHS as an empty chair was harmless error. It is not contested in 

this petition that the evidence of DSHS's involvement in how Ms. Yao 

came to be placed at Respondent's adult family home was material and 

relevant, in part, to establish that Respondent Yin acted reasonably given 

the circumstances and information provided to her. Instead, what 

Petitioner argues is that because DSHS was identified, along with two 

OTHER potentially at-fault entities not named in the action, in the jury 

instructions, that the jury must have disregarded the instructions of the 

court and must have assumed DSHS was solely at fault for the plaintiffs 

injuries and thereby must have erroneously rendered a verdict finding 

there was no negligent conduct by the defendant. This convoluted 

argument is not only factually devoid, but it is an argument made of whole 

cloth. The argument also implies, although does not analyze, alleged juror 

misconduct by asserting the jury failed to follow the court's instructions. 

Lastly, Petitioner's argument that the Court of Appeals decision is 

in conflict with this Supreme Court's decisions in Zukowsky v. Brown, 79 

Wn.2d 586 (1971) and Albin v. Nat'/ Bank of Commerce, 60 Wn.2d 745 

( 1962) demonstrates an erroneous understanding of this Court's decisions 

in those cases. 
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First, the evidence elicited at trial from defendant's expert 

Elizabeth Johnston as respects DSHS was limited to her belief that DSHS, 

as well as ARNP Lee and the family members who served as healthcare 

agents for Ms. Yao, should have seen to it that Respondents received a 

copy of ARNP Lee's letter that described Ms. Yao's medical needs. Vol. 

VIII, RP pp. 921-923. As respects fault however, defense expert Johnston 

only provided testimony of her opinion that the family members who 

served as healthcare agents for Ms. Yao and her healthcare provider, 

ARNP Lee, shared in the fault of not seeing to it that Ms. Yao was placed 

in a more secure skilled nursing facility. RP Vol. VIII, 974:19-975:25. 

Petitioner's assertion that at trial the ONLY defense to the claims was the 

fault ofDSHS is quite simply factually erroneous. 

Secondly, DSHS was not the only unnamed at-fault entity 

identified by the defense and was not the only at-fault entity listed in the 

jury instructions or on the Special Verdict Form at the time of trial. For 

Petitioner to divine that the jury must have only wrongly considered the 

possibility of DSHS's potential fault, but NOT the potential fault of the 

other two identified potentially at-fault entities (ARNP Lee and Ms. Yao's 

healthcare agents) AND then must have disregarded the trial court's 

instructions on negligence AND disregarded the order in which to answer 

the questions on the Special Verdict Form, is simply not factually 
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supportable or credible, nor is it legally sound. What Petitioner is in 

essence arguing, without any evidence from the jurors themselves, is juror 

misconduct. However, in addition to having no factual support in the form 

of juror declarations or testimony, this argument also fails as a matter of 

law because the alleged misconduct "inheres in the verdict": testimony 

may not be considered if the facts alleged "are linked to the juror's motive, 

intent or belief, or described their effect upon him or if the evidence 

concerns the mental processes of jurors." State v. Hatley, 41 Wn.App. 

789, 793 ( 1985). 

Third, and of particular importance, the case authority cited by 

Petitioner does not support his argument but instead, demonstrates that the 

Appellate Court's decision is actually in accord with this Supreme Court's 

precedent on harmless error. 

Both Zukowsky v. Brown, 79 Wn.2d 586 (1971) and Albin v. Nat '1 

Bank of Commerce, 60 Wn.2d 745 (1962) stand for the proposition that if 

a jury instruction interjects a theory that was not properly at issue, and the 

court cannot determine from the verdict that the verdict was not influenced 

by the improper interjection, a new trial is warranted. This proposition is 

not at issue in this case. 

In Zukowsky, the issue was whether interjecting contributory and 

comparative negligence, which were not supported by the evidence, may 
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have influenced the jury. In Zukowsky, this Court held that because the 

instructions "spoke in comparative terms, thus encouraging the jury to 

consider alleged contributory negligence in conjunction with its 

consideration of plaintiffs alleged negligence, rather than distinct from 

and subsequent to that determination" it could not "positively state, from 

the existence of a general verdict for the defendants ... that the jury must 

have determined that the defendant was free from negligence and that its 

verdict was reached sans any influence of the erroneous assertions." Id. at 

590-591. (Emphasis supplied.) 

In Albin, the issue presented was whether an instruction on volenti 

non fit injuria (voluntarily exposing oneself to injury) should have been 

given when there was a complete lack of evidence that either plaintiff 

knew of and appreciated the danger at hand. /d. at 753-754. There the 

Supreme Court reasoned that the instruction indicated to the jury that the 

court must have thought there was some evidence on the issue, Id. at 754, 

so a new trial was warranted. 

Here, there are no facts similar to either Zukowsky or Albin, and 

instead there is evidence, as the Court of Appeals determined, that the 

instructions to the jury assured there was no comparative fault of others 

intetjected into the instructions addressing the alleged negligence of the 

defendant, Jury Instruction No. 10, and that the jury was specifically 
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instructed that there could be more than one proximate cause, Jury 

Instruction No. 15. Further, it is undisputable that the defense argued 

there were THREE potentially at-fault entities, NOT just DSHS, that 

proximately caused the alleged damages and lastly, rather than a general 

verdict form, the trial court gave the jury a Special Verdict Form that had 

as Question 1 : "Were the defendants negligent?" When that question was 

answered in the negative no additional questions were to be read or 

answered by the jury on the issue of negligence, be they questions about 

Ms. Yao's healthcare agents, her healthcare provider, ARNP Lee, or 

DSHS? 

Because Instruction 10 explicitly instructed the jury to render a 

verdict for the plaintiff if they found the defendant negligent, WITHOUT 

regard at all for the potential negligence of others, and one must assume 

the jury followed the Court's instruction, the facts at hand positively 

support the conclusion that negligence was refuted by the verdict and 

therefore including DSHS as one of three potentially at-fault entities on 

the negligence claim was harmless error. 

VI. CONCLUSION 

The Court of Appeals decision is fully in accord with this Court's 

decisions in Gaglidari v. Denny's Restaurant, 117 Wn.2d 426, 440 ( 1991 ); 

2 See Footnote I at page 7. 
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Zukowsky v. Brown, 79 Wn.2d 586 (1971 ); and Albin v. Nat 'I Bank of 

Commerce, 60 Wn.2d 745 (1962). There being no other possible, or

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